FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/6/2019 4:20 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97629-5

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 77870-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD P. LEREN, as Executor of the Estate of MARVIN A. LEREN,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

KAISER GYPSUM COMPANY, INC., et al.,

Defendants/Appellants

PETITIONER ELEMENTIS CHEMICALS INC.'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Nathaniel J. R. Smith, WSBA # 28302 Kyle M. Butler, WSBA #44290 William H. Armstrong admitted pro hac vice

Attorneys for Defendant/Appellant/Petitioner Elementis Chemicals Inc.

SOHA & LANG, P.S.

1325 Fourth Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98101 Telephone: (206) 624-1800

C.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE			
	1.	Benson Chemical Corporation Distributed J-M Canadian Asbestos that Was a Cause of Mr. Leren's Death	. 3	
	2.	Benson Chemical's Distribution Business	4	
	3.	Benson Chemical's History and Dissolution	4	
	4.	HCP Distributed Union Carbide Calidria Asbestos Before and After the Dissolution of Benson Chemical Corporation.	. 6	
D.	PROCE	EEDINGS BELOW	. 7	
E.	AS TO BE AP	MENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED WHETHER THE PRODUCT LINE DOCTRINE MAY PLIED TO A SHAREHOLDER ACQUIRING ASSETS UGH DISTRIBUTION AFTER DISSOLUTION	. 8	
	1.	Review Is Merited Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because the Balance between Shareholder's Rights and Claimants' Rights Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest	. 8	
	2.	Discretionary Review Is Merited Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and other Decisions from the Court of Appeals.		
	3.	Discretionary Review Is Merited Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because the Issue Whether the Survival of Remedy Statute Is Available to a Successor Is of Substantial Public Interest	16	
F.	CONC	LUSION	17	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Equipto Div. Aurora Equip. Co. v. Yarmouth, 134 Wn.2d 356, 950 P.2d 451 (1998)					
George v. Parke Davis, 107 Wn.2d 584, 733 P.2d 507					
Hall v. Armstrong Cork, Inc. 103 Wn.2d 258, 616 (1984)					
Kaminski v. Western MacArthur Company, 175 Cal. App. 3d 445, 220 Cal. Rptr. 895 (Cal. Ct. App. 1985) 10, 13					
Leren v. Kaiser Gypsum Co., Inc., et al., 9 Wn. App. 2d, 55, 442 P.3d 273 (2019)					
Martin v. Abbott Labs., 102 Wn.2d 581, 689 P.2d 368 (1984)passim					
Payne v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 147 Wn. App. 17, 190 P.3d 102 (2008) 13, 14					
Potlatch Corp. v. Superior Court, 154 Cal.App.3d 1144, 201 Cal.Rptr. 750 (1984)					
Ray v. Alad, 19 Cal. 3d 22 (1977)					
Statutes					
RCW 23B.14.050					
RCW 23B.14.340					
Rules					
RAP 13.4, et seq					

A. INTRODUCTION.

Petitioner Elementis Chemicals Inc. (Elementis) asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition, specifically whether under the facts of this case a shareholder becomes liable for the obligations of the corporation.

The jury found Benson Chemical Corporation had distributed Johns-Manville (J-M) Canadian asbestos that was a cause of decedent's fatal cancer. That finding is not in dispute here. The dispute is whether Elementis is liable for Benson Chemical's product liability.

Elementis is successor by merger to Harrisons & Crosfield (Pacific), Inc. (HCP). The controversy here relates to HCP's conduct in the 1970's. In January 1977, HCP purchased all the shares in Benson Chemical Corporation. Benson Chemical dissolved effective July 26, 1978. After satisfying all creditors' claims, Benson Chemical's remaining assets were distributed pursuant to RCW 23B.14.050 to its sole shareholder, HCP.

The trial court decided to look past the form of the transaction and treat that statutory distribution to the shareholder as if it had been a sale of assets. The trial court then held that HCP (and therefore Elementis) was liable for Benson Chemical's product liability under the "product line" rule adopted for asset sales under *Martin v. Abbott Labs.*, 102 Wn.2d 581, 689 P.2d 368 (1984)). The Court of Appeals affirmed.

Normally, of course, a shareholder is not responsible for corporate obligations (*see, e.g., Equipto Div. Aurora Equip. Co. v. Yarmouth*, 134 Wn.2d 356, 375, 950 P.2d 451, 460 (1998)). The courts below, however, decided that when the shareholder received the corporation's assets on dissolution, the shareholder became a successor, and lost its shield against liability for corporate obligations and also lost its right under RCW 23B.14.340 (Survival of Remedy After Dissolution Statute) to assert the time limitations within which claims against shareholders of dissolved corporations must be filed.

Elementis asks this Court to review the determination that HCP (and therefore Elementis) was liable for Benson Chemical's product liability under the product line rule. The Court of Appeals' decision is a significant change to the rule this Court described in *Martin* as "narrowly drawn" to achieve a "fair balance among the competing considerations of products liability and corporate acquisitions." The "fair balance" set forth in *Martin* is absent from the decision below, and this Court should accept review and reverse.

A copy of the Court of Appeals Decision, including the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration and Changing Opinion, is in the Appendix at pages A-001-023 and A-039-040.

B. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

When a corporation is dissolved and its remaining assets are distributed to its shareholder pursuant to RCW 23B.14.050, does the shareholder become liable for the dissolved corporation's obligations if the shareholder does not sell the product sold by the dissolved corporation, but sells another product manufactured by a different manufacturer in the same industry?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

1. Benson Chemical Corporation Distributed J-M Canadian Asbestos that Was a Cause of Mr. Leren's Death.

Marvin Leren died from mesothelioma resulting from asbestos exposures. Plaintiff Edward Leren is Marvin Leren's brother and executor of his estate. Marvin Leren worked from 1962 to 1974 for Vermiculite Manufacturing Company ("VMC") in Seattle when VMC used J-M Canadian asbestos in its manufacturing process. Benson Chemical Corporation distributed J-M Canadian asbestos to VMC between 1966 and late 1973. The jury found that Mr. Leren's exposure to J-M asbestos was a substantial factor in causing his death, and awarded damages of \$975,000.

2. Benson Chemical's Distribution Business.

Benson Chemical distributed "the better part of 150" chemical products for numerous manufacturers. A-065 (RP 660:1-3). Benson Chemical's overall revenue was \$4 million to \$5 million a year; asbestos sales "had to be" less than one percent of that. A-064 (RP 659:12-22). Benson Chemical's total revenue for J-M asbestos sales to VMC in 1971 was \$526.97. That was the highest amount Benson Chemical received in any year for its distribution of J-M asbestos to VMC, which was its largest customer for asbestos.

3. Benson Chemical's History and Dissolution.

W. Ronald Benson and Helen Benson incorporated their eponymous family business in 1950. After consultations with attorneys and accountants, on January 10, 1977 Mr. and Mrs. Benson sold their shares in Benson Chemical to HCP for \$591,537. A-042 (¶ 2(a)). The transaction documents reflect HCP's desire—typical for a buyer—that all of Benson Chemical's liabilities be identified and accounted for. The Share Purchase Agreement required that all of Benson Chemical's assets, liabilities and potential liabilities be identified and that the share purchase price account for those liabilities. A-045 (¶ 5(c)-(d). Among other things, the Bensons represented and warranted that they did not know or have

reasonable ground to know of any basis for any liability action against Benson Chemical.

After HCP purchased the shares, Benson Chemical continued to operate as Benson Chemical out of its Seattle and Portland locations. There was no evidence (nor was it alleged) that HCP ignored corporate formalities or otherwise became the alter ego of Benson Chemical. Benson Chemical's board (now controlled by the new shareholder HCP) decided to dissolve the corporation, and Benson Chemical followed the procedures required by Washington law. Benson Chemical filed its Statement of Intent to Dissolve on June 14, 1977, and filed the Articles of Dissolution on July 26, 1978. A-057-060 and A-061-063. The Articles of Dissolution state that "[a]ll debts, obligations and liabilities of the corporation have been paid and discharged, or adequate provisions have been made therefor." A-062. The Department of Revenue of the State of Washington certified that Benson Chemical had paid every license fee, tax, and increase of penalty imposed under Chapter 180 of the Laws of Washington 1935. A-063.

In accordance with Washington law, Benson Chemical's assets remaining after satisfying creditors were distributed to its shareholder HCP.

4. HCP Distributed Union Carbide Calidria Asbestos Before and After the Dissolution of Benson Chemical Corporation.

Both HCP and Benson Chemical were distributors, not manufacturers. HCP distributed Union Carbide Calidria asbestos before and after it purchased the shares in Benson Chemical, and after Benson Chemical was dissolved. At trial, Plaintiff argued that HCP had sold J-M asbestos after the dissolution. Elementis believed there was no evidence HCP sold J-M asbestos after dissolution. The jury found that HCP '[sold] the same products under a similar name' post-dissolution. A-069. On appeal, Plaintiff and Elementis renewed their respective arguments as to whether HCP had sold J-M asbestos after dissolution.

The Court of Appeals chose not to address that argument, and instead interpreted the above-quoted jury finding to mean that the jury found the Johns-Manville Canadian asbestos and Union Carbide California asbestos were the same product—raw white asbestos—sold under a similar name. Leren v. Kaiser Gypsum Co., Inc., et al., 9 Wn. App. 2d, 55, 68, 442 P.3d 273 (2019).

¹ The only evidence about Union Carbide's California Calidria chrysotile asbestos was Mr. Mann's testimony. He testified it was produced from a mine in New Idria, California, and processed in King City. He said it was an asbestos fiber "in several grades." When asked if it was similar to the Johns-Manville Canadian chrysotile asbestos, he said "I can't really speak to that issue." A-066 – A-067.

For the purposes of this petition, Elementis accepts the Court of Appeals' interpretation of this jury finding, which is a basis for the Court of Appeals' determination that HCP sold the same product under a similar name, one of the elements required by *Martin*. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals' interpretation should not have led to liability.

D. PROCEEDINGS BELOW.

After the jury determined that Benson Chemical was liable, the trial court determined that HCP was a successor to Benson Chemical under the product line exception as set forth in *Martin*. On appeal, Division I affirmed on all issues.

The Court of Appeals felt the product line doctrine/rule applied to a shareholder:

Although stock purchasers are generally not responsible for the conduct of the companies in which they invest, if a business entity buys 100 percent of a corporation's stock in a single transaction and promptly begins the process of dissolving the corporation, thereby acquiring the predecessor's assets, then a court may look past the form of the combined stock purchase and dissolution to recognize the substance of an asset acquisition. And if, after acquiring the assets, the purchaser avails itself of the goodwill associated with the distributor's sales of unreasonably dangerous materials by holding itself out as a continuation of the acquired distributor, then the purpose, policy, and logic of the product line doctrine applies.

Leren v. Kaiser Gypsum Co., Inc., et al., 9 Wn. App. 2d at 59.

The Court of Appeals also decided that a shareholder that becomes a successor under the product line doctrine is not permitted to rely on the limitations period in RCW 23B.14.340. 9 Wn. App. 2d at 69.

Elementis moved for reconsideration arguing that the Court of Appeals had misunderstood the record, and based on that misunderstanding had reached an erroneous conclusion as to the applicability of the product line doctrine. A-024-038. The Court of Appeals denied Elementis' motion on August 8, 2019, amending its opinion but retaining its ultimate conclusions as set forth above. A-039-040.

- E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED AS TO WHETHER THE PRODUCT LINE DOCTRINE MAY BE APPLIED TO A SHAREHOLDER ACQUIRING ASSETS THROUGH DISTRIBUTION AFTER DISSOLUTION.
 - 1. Review Is Merited Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) Because the Balance between Shareholders' Rights and Claimants' Rights Is an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

When this Court adopted the product line rule in *Martin*, first enunciated in *Ray v. Alad*, 19 Cal. 3d 22 (1977), it recognized "the competing considerations of product liability and corporate acquisitions." The present case involves an additional consideration: the fundamental right of a shareholder not to become responsible for corporate obligations.

The *Martin* Court stated its belief that the product line rule fairly balanced the competing considerations then before the Court:

This narrowly drawn rule strikes a fair balance among the competing considerations of products liability and corporate acquisitions. Imposition of liability is properly based on the successor's receipt of a benefit from the predecessor's product line. The benefit of being able to take over a going concern manufacturing a specific product line is necessarily burdened with potential products liability linked to the product line. This standard allows the parties to a transfer to consider potential products liability and in fairness to the competing considerations still leaves some claimants uncompensated and some forms of transfer immune.

Martin, 102 Wn.2d at 616. Martin set forth the elements as follows:

The court's duty under the *Ray* rule is (1) to determine whether the transferee has acquired substantially all the transferor's assets, leaving no more than a mere corporate shell; (2) to determine whether the transferee is holding itself out to the general public as a continuation of the transferor by producing the same product line under a similar name; and (3) to determine whether the transferee is benefiting from the goodwill of the transferor.

Martin, supra, 102 Wn.2d at 614.

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case substantially alters the balance the *Martin* Court felt was fair. First, the Court of Appeals' decision ignores the fundamental right of a shareholder to be shielded from liability for the corporation's obligations. No Washington case has previously equated a stock purchase to an asset purchase. One California

decision, *Potlatch Corp. v. Superior Court*, 154 Cal.App.3d 1144, 201 Cal.Rptr. 750 (1984), refused to equate a stock purchase to an asset purchase and held that a shareholder cannot be held liable as successor to a dissolved corporation. The Court of Appeals here stated without explanation that *Potlatch* was factually distinguishable, and instead relied on another California case none of the parties had cited, but which the Court felt was "apt and compelling": *Kaminski v. Western MacArthur Company*, 175 Cal. App. 3d 445, 220 Cal. Rptr. 895 (Cal. Ct. App. 1985). *See Leren*, 9 Wn. App. 2d at 67 fn. 38.

However, *Kaminski* did not involve any shareholder. In *Kaminski*, a distributor of J-M products borrowed money it was unable to repay, and was taken over by the business that had lent the money, which was also a distributor of J-M products. The lender was not a shareholder, so *Kaminski* did not consider whether – let alone hold that – a stock purchase could be equated to an asset purchase.

Furthermore, the Washington Legislature has specifically addressed claims against shareholders of dissolved corporations, and the Court of Appeals' decision contravenes that legislative judgment. RCW 23B.14.340 (Survival of Remedy After Dissolution Statute) provides:

The dissolution of a corporation . . . by administrative dissolution by the secretary of state . . . shall not take away or impair any remedy available against such corporation, its

directors, officers, *or shareholders*, for any right or claim existing, or any liability incurred, prior to such dissolution or arising thereafter, unless action or other proceeding thereon is not commenced . . . within two years after the effective date of any dissolution that was effective prior to June 7, 2006. . . . [Emphasis added.]

Applying the product line rule to a shareholder, for the purpose of imposing liability on the shareholder for a claim against the dissolved corporation, is simply an improper end run around that statutory provision. The Legislature's balancing of the competing interests of claimants and shareholders should be respected.

Second, whereas *Martin* required that the transferor produce "the same product line under a similar name," the Court of Appeals here imposes liability where the shareholder sells a different manufacturer's product under a different name. There was no evidence as to whether the Union Carbide California asbestos HCP distributed was similar to the J-M Canadian asbestos Benson Chemical had distributed. The one witness who was asked if those products were similar said "I can't really speak to that issue." A-066 – A-67. And, it is readily apparent the names are not similar.

In *George v. Parke Davis*, 107 Wn.2d 584, 588-90, 733 P.2d 507, (1987), this Court said that the "product line exception requires the corporation to manufacture the same type of product, and not merely stay

in the same type of manufacturing business." The Court explained that the successor would be liable if it "continued production of DES" and also said liability under *Martin* would extend "to a corporation which continued to manufacture its predecessor's line of DES." Manufacturing other pharmaceuticals, but not DES, would not be sufficient to impose liability.

George did not involve two different types or sources of DES; there was a fact question whether one alleged successor had actually continued to make its predecessor's DES. The Court said that if the successor continued to make that DES, liability would be imposed, but if the successor did not make DES, its manufacture of other pharmaceuticals was not enough. Here, the Court of Appeals concluded that because HCP sold Union Carbide California asbestos, that was close enough to J-M Canadian asbestos.

However, there was no continuation of "the predecessor's line" of J-M Canadian asbestos. To the contrary, J-M and Union Carbide were separate business manufacturers, albeit in the same industry. If Benson Chemical had been a Ford dealership selling Ford cars, and HCP had been a Chevrolet dealership, the fact that HCP sold Chevrolet cars should not impose successor liability for Benson's sales of Ford cars – but that is the functional equivalent of what the Court of Appeals did here. Elementis

believes the Court of Appeals' decision here has extended the "same product" concept too far, and this Court should grant review in order to address this important aspect of the product line rule.

Third, the Court of Appeals' decision ignores the "risk spreading" requirement of the product line rule. This is related to the "same product" requirement. In Payne v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc., 147 Wn. App. 17, 33, 190 P.3d 102 (2008), the court noted that there must be a showing that the "successor company assumes the original manufacturer's risk spreading role. . . . [I]t is only through sales of the continued product(s) that the successor assumes such a role." HCP had no way to spread risks associated with J-M Canadian asbestos among users of J-M Canadian asbestos because HCP did not sell that product. Moreover, no Washington case has imposed the product line exception on a seller.² While sellers of products are subject to product liability, the risk spreading rationale for applying the product line exception is not present where the transferee sells a different manufacturer's product and the transferor's largest annual revenue from sales of the harmful J-M product was \$526.97, less than 1 per cent of the transferor's total revenue.

² The California case the Court of Appeals relied upon sua sponte, *Kaminski*, did apply the rule to a product seller, but, as noted above, *Kaminski* did not involve a shareholder unlike the present case.

Fourth, the Court of Appeals' decision improperly extends *Martin*'s requirement that the transferee benefit from the goodwill associated with the transferor's harmful product. The Court of Appeals here required only that HCP benefit from the goodwill generally associated with Benson Chemical's business as a whole, and that is inconsistent with prior case law.

The Court of Appeals' decision asserts that the "goodwill transfer contemplated in the product line doctrine is 'not that associated with individual products,' but rather 'that associated with the predecessor business entity'", citing to *Hall v. Armstrong Cork, Inc.* 103 Wn.2d 258, 616 (1984). But this misconstrues *Hall*. In *Hall*, this Court was denying application of the product line exception because the "predecessor" Unarco remained in business although the "successor" Pittsburgh Corning had acquired the entire product line. Both *Hall* and the Court's subsequent decision in *George* make clear that the product line doctrine requires *both* that the transaction leave no more than a corporate shell (which was not the case in *Hall*), *and* that the transferee produce "the same product under a similar name." *Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 262-263; *George*, 107 Wn.2d at 588.

Other decisions clearly state that the goodwill must be associated with the particular product that causes the harm. *See, Martin*, 102 Wn.2d

at 614. In *Payne*, 147 Wn. App. at 34–35, the Court held that the goodwill-benefit test must be specific to sales of the product that caused the injury: "There is no proof that [the acquiring company] ever actually manufactured or sold any of the same fuel oil heaters or naval evaporators alleged to have caused Payne's injuries." Absent such proof, there was no way the acquiring corporation could assume the risk-spreading role that was the basis for the application of successor liability. *See also, George*, 107 Wn.2d at 590.

It is evident that HCP meant to structure its purchase in a way that minimized its possible risk, and it would have been commonly understood that purchasing shares would not subject HCP to liability for any corporate obligations of Benson Chemical.³ Looking past the form of this transaction aids the claimant of course, but does so at the expense of legitimate expectations HCP had as a shareholder. Weighing those competing policy interests merits this Court's attention.

Discretionary review should be accepted so this Court can determine whether the distribution of assets on dissolution is equivalent to an asset purchase, resulting in a shareholder becoming liable for corporate

 $^{^3}$ There is nothing in the record to indicate whether HCP or its attorneys in the share purchase transaction were aware of the then pending case of $Ray \ v$. Alad, 19 Cal. 3d 22 (1977), but the opinion in that case was issued February 24, 1977—six weeks after the share purchase agreement here.

obligations. It is important for Washington businesses and their attorneys to know if this Court believes the deliberate structure of business transactions can be ignored.

2. Discretionary Review Is Merited Under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2) Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Conflicts with Decisions of this Court and other Decisions from the Court of Appeals.

Discretionary review is also warranted under RAP 13.4(b)(l) because the Court of Appeals' Decision is in conflict with other decisions of this Court in that it extends the product line doctrine to situations not involved or discussed in this Court's decisions including *Martin v. Abbott Labs.*, 102 Wn.2d 581, 689 P.2d 368 (1984), and *George v. Parke Davis*, 107 Wn.2d 584, 733 P.2d 507 (1987), in a manner that is inconsistent with those cases as discussed above. In the same way, the Court of Appeals' Decision conflicts with other decisions from the Court of Appeals, as discussed above, warranting discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

3. Discretionary Review Is Merited Under RAP 13.4(b)(4)
Because the Issue Whether the Survival of Remedy
Statute Is Available to a Successor Is of Substantial
Public Interest

No prior case has ruled that the limitations period in RCW 23B.14.340 is unavailable to a shareholder of a dissolved corporation, even if that shareholder is deemed to also be a successor. First there is a question of statutory interpretation: if a person or entity is both a

shareholder and a successor, does the statute protect the shareholder regardless of its status of successor?

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