FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2019 1:38 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 97629-5

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 77870-6-I

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EDWARD P. LEREN, as Executor of the Estate of MARVIN A. LEREN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KAISER GYPSUM COMPANY, INC., et al.,

Defendants-Appellants.

RESPONDENT EDWARD P. LEREN'S RESPONSE TO ELEMENTIS CHEMICALS INC.'S PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Matthew P. Bergman
Justin Olson
BERGMAN DRAPER OSLUND UDO
821 Second Avenue, Suite 2100
Seattle, WA 98104
(T) 206-957-9510

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court of Appeals unanimously held that HCP's conduct relating to Benson Chemical satisfied every factor of the product line exception to nonliability for an asset purchaser. The Court of Appeals did not, as Elementis claims, find that *every* shareholder becomes a successor

when a dissolved corporation's assets are distributed. See Petition at 1 ("The trial court decided to ... treat that statutory distribution to the shareholder as if it had been a sale of assets."). Rather, it was the conduct undertaken after the stock purchase and dissolution of assets that revealed the true nature of this transaction. The appellate court's holding does no harm to shareholder rights because HCP was not acting as a mere shareholder in its operation of Benson Chemical. Rather, HCP used the mechanisms of shareholder distribution to effectuate a total asset transfer while shedding all liabilities and leaving Benson Chemical "no more than a mere corporate shell." Martin, 102 Wn.2d at 614. For the following reasons, the Court of Appeals' decision below does not conflict with this Court's well-established successor liability jurisprudence, and Elementis cannot point to any genuine issues of substantial importance to justify discretionary review of the appellate court's opinion.

A. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any decision by the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals.

The general rule in Washington is that a corporation purchasing the assets of another corporation does not become liable for the debts and liabilities of the selling corporation. *Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 261-62. Exceptions to this rule arise where: (1) the purchaser expressly or impliedly assumes liability; (2) the purchase is a *de facto* merger or

consolidation; (3) the purchaser is a mere continuation of the seller; or (4) the transfer of assets is for the fraudulent purpose of escaping liability. *Id.*; *Martin*, 102 Wn.2d at 609. In *Martin v. Abbott Laboratories*, this Court recognized a fifth exception in the limited context of product liability actions. *Martin*, 102 Wn.2d at 615 (citing *Ray v. Alad Corp.*, 19 Cal.3d 22, 560 P.2d 3, 136 Cal.Rptr. 574 (1977)). Under this "product line" exception, a court must determine whether:

- (1) The transferee has acquired substantially all of the transferor's assets, leaving no more than a mere corporate shell;
- (2) The transferee is holding itself out to the general public as a continuation of the transferor by producing the same product line under a similar name; and
- (3) The transferee is benefiting from the goodwill of the transferor. *Id.* at 614.

Significantly, Elementis does not dispute the factual conclusions by the jury, the trial court, and the Court of Appeals that all the factors for the product line exception had been met. Elementis also did not challenge application of the product line exception to product sellers such as Benson Chemical before the trial court or Court of Appeals. RAP 13.7(b). Instead, the gravamen of Elementis' argument appears to be that none of the exceptions to nonliability articulated in *Martin* or *Hall* can ever apply to a transaction formally characterized as a stock purchase. Petition at 9

("No Washington case has previously equated a stock purchase to an asset purchase.").

However, Washington courts have long looked to the substance of a transaction over its form to determine whether successorship liability should attach. *Eagle Pac. Ins. Co. v. Christensen Motor Yacht Club*, 135 Wn.2d 894, 901, 959 P.2d 1052 (1998) ("Liability may be imposed regardless of the exact form of [the] transfer of assets between corporations."); *Payne v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 147 Wn. App. 17, 25-26, 190 P.3d 102 (2008); *see also Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 264 ("The policy justifications for our adoption of the product line [doctrine] require a transfer of substantially all of the predecessor's assets"). *Martin*, which laid out the critical elements of the product line exception, required only the *acquisition* of the transferor's assets; the test does not articulate any exclusions based upon the form of the acquisition. 102 Wn.2d at 614.

In *Hall*, this Court explained that an "essential purpose of the product line exception is to afford a products liability claimant an opportunity to bring an action against the successor corporation when his or her rights against the predecessor corporation have been essentially extinguished," either by dissolution of the predecessor or transfer of substantially all of its assets to the successor. 103 Wn.2d at 264.

Moreover, the Court held that "elemental fairness demands that there be a

causal connection between the successor's acquisition and the unavailability of the predecessor." *Id*.

In this case, every factfinder recognized a pervasive intent by HCP to enjoy the benefits of Benson's product lines and goodwill of the Benson name while depriving products liability claimants of any recourse.

Application of liability rests not upon HCP's status as a shareholder but upon its status as a successor through its conduct post-dissolution. *See Martin*, 102 Wn.2d at 617 (finding questions of fact as to defendant's sale of similar product lines and assumption of predecessor corporation's goodwill); *Hall*, 103 Wn.2d at 267 (declining to extend the product line exception where the transaction of assets contemplated that the predecessor would continue in existence while maintaining its separate goodwill and the resources to compensate products liability claimants).

The case of *Potlatch Corp. v. Superior Court*, which Elementis cites in its Petition, provides a notable contrast to the facts of this case.

154 Cal.App.3d 1144, 201 Cal.Rptr. 750 (1984). In *Potlatch*, a whollyowned subsidiary company was dissolved in compliance with California law. *Id.* at 1147. However, unlike the case at bar, the parent company in *Potlatch* did not continue to operate the dissolved business and benefit from its product lines and goodwill. Instead, the subsidiary's "business was discontinued and its plant and equipment were liquidated by an

auction sale." *Id.* Indeed, the parent company "did not take over the business of [the subsidiary] nor absorb its plant and equipment." *Id.* at 1148.

The court in *Potlatch* agreed that, "[o]f course, substance should prevail over form." *Id.* at 1150. However, the wholesome substance of the transaction in *Potlatch* was demonstrated by the fact that the parent company "did not acquire the physical assets of [the subsidiary] ... and continue the business of [the subsidiary] as part of its own business." *Id.* In stark contrast to the facts of *Potlatch*, HCP clearly took over the business of Benson and absorbed its products, employees, customer base, trade name, and goodwill.

Elementis also insists that HCP sold only Union Carbide Calidria raw asbestos while Benson sold Johns-Manville raw asbestos. *See*Petition at 3, 6, 12-13. This claim is belied by the testimony at trial.

William Clary, a lifelong Benson employee, stated that the company continued to supply Johns-Manville raw asbestos products to Mr. Leren's employer, Z-Brick, even after Benson had been acquired and dissolved by HCP. APP_040. The jury was free to credit Mr. Clary's testimony and reject the testimony of Elementis' corporate representative, Robert Mann, as it did when it found that HCP held itself out as a continuation of Benson by selling "the same products under a similar name." APP_036

(emphasis added). In fact, Mr. Mann admitted that the stock sale was indistinguishable from an asset sale, rendering the entire transaction "in effect ... a merger." APP_044.

Elementis' final argument is that the Court of Appeals misconstrued *Hall* by finding that the goodwill requirement of the product line exception must be associated to individual products rather than the goodwill of the predecessor business entity. Petition at 14. This is incorrect. In *Hall*, the Court expressly held that the product line exception did not apply because the transaction "contemplated that UNARCO [the predecessor corporation] would continue in existence, hence maintaining *its separate goodwill*" 103 Wn.2d at 267. In *Martin*, the Court found genuine issues of material fact where the evidence demonstrated the successor corporation's "assumption of Stanley Drug Products, Inc.'s goodwill," not the goodwill associated with the specific product. 102 Wn.2d at 617.

This Court's subsequent decision in *George v. Parke-Davis*, 107 Wn.2d 584, 733 P.2d 507 (1987) does not alter the holdings in *Hall* or *Martin*. The Court reaffirmed that a successor corporation must benefit from "the assumption of *the old corporation's goodwill* and therefore should shoulder the burdens associated with those products." *Id.* at 589-90. Thus, the Court held that the fact that "a company manufactures

additional products should have no effect on this goodwill, and recovery on the basis of other products should be denied." *Id.* at 590.

In this case, the Court of Appeals noted that "[t]he goodwill for a distributor of raw materials is associated with the distributor's customer relationships and reputation for quality service, quality materials, reliability, and competitive pricing." APP_007. HCP was not found to benefit from the goodwill of Benson's sale of other products; rather, it benefited from the goodwill of Benson's sale of raw asbestos products, which HCP continued by selling the same raw asbestos products to the same customers under the Benson trade name. For all these reasons, Elementis has failed to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with any decision by the Supreme Court or Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2).

B. The Court of Appeals' refusal to limit successorship claims under RCW 23B.14.340 does not raise an issue of substantial public interest.

"Painting a pumpkin green and calling it a watermelon will not render its contents sweet and juicy." *Arruda v. Sears, Roebuck & Co.*, 310 F.3d 13, 24 (1st Cir.2002). Elementis' argument regarding the application of Washington's corporate survivorship statute, RCW 23B.14.340, is entirely misplaced. Neither the Washington Legislature, nor any decision by any court in this state, has suggested that RCW 23B.14.340 was

designed to supersede Washington's lengthy corporate successorship and liability jurisprudence. The Court of Appeals noted as much, APP_014, and the instant Petition makes no effort to provide any such authority. "Where no authorities are cited in support of a proposition, the court is not required to search out authorities, but may assume that counsel, after diligent search, has found none." *DeHeer v. Seattle Post–Intelligencer*, 60 Wn.2d 122, 126, 372 P.2d 193 (1962).

RCW 23B.14.340 provides that dissolution of a company "shall not take away or impair any remedy available against such corporation, its directors, officers, or shareholders, for any right or claim existing ... unless action or other proceeding thereon is not commenced within two years after the effective date of any dissolution." As the Court of Appeals observed, Mr. Leren did not attempt to resurrect Benson Chemical and sue it directly, nor was liability ever imposed upon Elementis as the successor to a former shareholder. APP_014. Under either theory of liability, the statute may well have applied to bar Mr. Leren's claims.

Instead, Mr. Leren alleged liability consistent with the exceptions to non-liability for asset transfers under well-established Washington law. The jury expressly found evidence that would support application of the "product line" exception, and the jury's special verdict findings supported the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. HCP's prior

status as a shareholder was entirely irrelevant to the legal theories and factual determinations at issue in this case.

Moreover, Elementis' argument would lead to an absurd cycle of corporate immunity. If Elementis' reading of the statute were correct, it would mean that a Washington corporation could transfer the entirety of its assets to a new corporate entity every two years, dissolve the prior iteration, and forever insulate itself from all liabilities with a discovery latency greater than two years. Elementis would have this Court hold that every successor liability claim that has been litigated in our courts over the past 30 years has been contrary to Washington law. And while the statute has been revised three times since its passage, not once has our Legislature looked upon our successorship jurisprudence and revised the law to explain that successor corporations are liable for a period of only two years. The reason for this is simple: Elementis' reading of the statute is completely unsupported, and the Court of Appeals' refusal to adopt such reading does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiff-Respondent requests that the Court deny discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' decision.